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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE .

. Although several seacoast forts have been made National His~
toric . Sites and Natlonal Historic Landmarks already, there are over-
whelming reasons why Fort Adams should be added tp the 1list of landmarks.

First, bullt between 1824 and 1857, the installation uniquely
1llustrates American military englneering and technolopgy as it developed
throughout the 19th century, and it excellently demonstrates the defense
recommendations of both the Bernard and Endicott Boards.

Second, the landward defenses of the earth-and—masonry fort include
tenallles, works that, according to the Rhode Island Hilstorical Preser-
vation Commission and distinguished historian of mllitary architecture
and engineering Willard B. Roblnson, were used exclusively in the United
States at Fort Adams. It was In part because of. these structures that,

" as Robinson points out, "Fort Adams was much %dmired by contemporary
englineers for i1ts complexity and uniqueness."*+ Such admiration is still
forthcoming from military archiltects, and according to Jerry Rogers of
the National Park Service, no other masonry fort on either the east or

the west coast 1s interpreted, as 1s this one, for its military archi-
tecture.

Third, when the fort was erected, defense of Narragansett Bay was
consldered one off the most important objectives of the national system.
This view was reflected in the size of the fort. It had a perimeter of
1,759 yards measured at the cordons, and it could mount 468 cannon,
more than either Fort Monroe or Fort Jefferson.

1Y

SRy

4
PR

[ty

o a ¥

5
i

=

PR

Fourth, the history of Fort Adams, more than that of any slster
installation, 1s closely assoclated with both Simon Bernard and Joseph
"G. Tetten, preeminent 1l9th-century military architects and engineers.
Bernard developed the original desipn of the fort, and Totten modified s
it and supervised constructlon for more than a decade. It was here - P
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Willard B. Robinson, "Fort Adams: American Example of French
Military Architecture" Rhode Island History, XXXIV (August 1975), 93
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that he conducted the studies that led to publication of his influential
work Hydraullc and Common Mortars (circa 1840).

Finally, in later years, the Fort Adams installatlon served as the
Civil War home of the U.S. Naval Academy, figured prominently in the

~coastal defense system recommended by the Endlcott Board, and served as

a summer White House during the FEisenhower administration.

Fort Adams Historie District includes approximately 80 acres; the
masonry maln work desipgned by Bernard and modlfied by Totten; its unique
outworks and 2 redoubts; 6 Endicott-perlod batteriles; 10 brick or frame
officers!'! quarters erected in the late 19th century; and 2 brick ware-
houses. Most of thls area and these structures are owned by the State of
Rhode Island, which 1s restoring the masonry fort.

History

Situated on a northeasterly thumblike protuberance near the south-.-
west end of Aquidneck or Rhode Island, Fort Adams pguards the strategic
eastern passage Iinto Narragansett Bay and Newport harbor. This position
probably was first fortified in the late 17th century. William Brenton
arrived in Newport in 1683 bearing a charter from King Charles I for an
area now known as Brenton Polnt. He erected a house scmewhere on the
noint, and tradition holds that he ordered two cannon from Fngland to
protect his property from pirstes and privateers. Since Brentonfs con-~
temporaries already recopnlzed the present fort site as a key te the
defense of the vay's east passape, 1t 1s likely that he placed his guns
here,

In 1740, British subjects, fearful of a French invasion, dbuilt an

.observatlion post on the site, and during the French and Indlan and Revolu-

tlonary Wars, they established earthwork fortifications here., Halfl a
century later, about 1799, the Unlted States erected a rohust brick
fortress on thils spot. Desirned by Louls de Tousard, the instzllation
comprised part of the Nation's "First System” of coastal defense and was
named "Fort Adams" in honor of the country's second President. By the
end of the War of 1812, however, this rirst Fort Adams stood I1n decay
tioreover, the Rritish burninr of Washington proved the inadequacy cf
America'’s entire coastal defense.

To rectify this situation, in 1816 the fiovernment c¢recated a special

board of officers to create and implement a program to improve seacoast
fortifications. Headed by former French milltary enpineer Simen Rernard,
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the group also included Lt. Col. Joseph G, Totten. Both '‘men earned inter-
national reputations for their work, with Totten, according fto scholar
Raymond E. Lewls, becoming "one of the leading military englneers in
American history." Showing broad vision the Bernard Board developed.a
national defense plan that consisted of an Interior system of communica-
tions, a militia, a navy, and permanent forts strategilcally situated to -

" control navigable bays and rivers. The maritime frontier was divided
initlally into four subsystems: the Gulf of Mexico, South Atlantic, Mid-
Atlantic, and Northeast Atlantic. Because, as archltectural histcrian
Willard B. Robinson polnts out, the board considered Narragansett Bay
"one of the most important objectlves of the national system," the area
was selected as a center for the northeast region.3 Only Marrapgansett
Bay among northeastern harbors could shelter ships during violent north-
western storms, and between Cape Cod and Cape Hatteras only Marragansett
Bay and Hampton Roads, says Roginson, were regarded by the board as
"nroper for naval rendezvous.,™ .

. The national importance- of the Narragansett area was reflected in
the magnitude of the polygonal fort desipned for Rhode Island. Bepgun in
1824 and not completed untll midcentury--at a cost of more than $3 mil-
lion--the new Fort Adams was one of the largest installatlons in the
national chain. Desipned to mount 468 guns, it had a perimeter, measured
at the cordons, of 1,739 yards. The constructors used Mailne granite for
scarps, parade walls, and supports, brick for vaults, and shale for stiruc-
tural walls. Defense of the huge fort in time of war would have required

,400 men, but in peacetime a garrison of 200 proved sufficient. Sore
military historians attribute the deslign of new Fort Adams to Totten,
but Robinson, whose study of the fort dwarfs all others, has shown that
Rernard drew the original plans and Totten modifled and implemented them.5
Thus the resultant edifice commemorates both of these important military

2

- Raymond E. Lewils, Seaccast Fortifications of the Unlited States: An
Introductory History (Washington, 1970}, 38.

3

Robinson, "Fort Adams: American Example of French Military Archi-
tecture," 78,

b

Ibid.

Willard B. Robinson, "Report on the Interpretation of Fort Adams'
Theory of Deslign." Mimeographed. Rhode Island Historical Preqervation .
Commission, June 1974, 6.

‘;; 3




N

v e iy e bm mmh e mma vt s v & e W ey e et

Form No. 10-300a
{Rev. 10-74) .

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THLE INTERIOR FOR NPS USE ONLY
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE .

RECEIVED

£

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES l
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM DATE ENTERED.

505

m&' '.-'f..tv.‘v '

ol
N
WE

o
2

3

CONTINUATION SHEET Fort Adams JTEM NUMBER B PAGE three

. englineers.

Fort Adams demanded two basilec types of milltary architecture: one
to protect against enemy ships in the bay and one to defend agalnst land
attack. In meeting these needs, Bernard and Totten created a fortress
that included tenallles (land defense fixtures used exclusively in the
Unlted States at Fort Adams) and according to Robilnson "was mgch admired
by contemporary engineers for its complexity and uniqueness.” The
tenailles formed part of a system of bastions, curtalins, and other struc-
tures based essentially on the theory of the "prirst gystem" of fortifica-
tion developed by Sehastlien Le Prestre de Vauban, the brilllant mllitary .
enpineer of Louis XIV, The overall form of the fort resulted from adapi-
ing the estimated requirements for artillery and theilr enclosures to )
existing land forms. Within this context, the form of individual compo-’
nents was desipgned to fulfill the most essentlal conditlons for securing
defensive strength. The south approach was defended by the use of forti-
fications conceived to be sufficiently strong to resist an open assault;
every point exterlor to the defenses within range could be thoroughly
swept by cannon fire; communication for the movement of troops was secure
and easy within the defensive works and to the exterior; and the fort had
bombproof shelters (casemates) in suitable locations to protect the
troops, armament, provislons, and munitions. Along the seafront curtalns,
each of the casemates "was deslipned to contaln two cannons, an_unccmmon
feature," according to Robinson, "in American fortifications."! 1In most
forts only one cannon was housed in each enclosure. Complementing the
land defenses of the main structure was a formal casemated masonry redoubt
measuring about 300 by 100 feet and situated some 1,700 feet south of
the fort 1tself., Totten supervised most of the construction, and 1t was
while here that he studlied masonry and wrote Hydraulic and Common Mortars,
an important technologlcal work.

"When completed, Fort Adams stood as a major American defense installa- |
tion. During the Civlil War, though, 1t functioned primarily as a staging
and training facility and served briefly as the wartlme home of the U.S.
Naval Academy. After moving from Annapolls when that community was under

[
Robinson, "Fort Adams: Amerlcan Example of French Military Archi-
tecture: 93.

7

willard B. Robinson, "Report on the Restoration of Fort Adams."
Mimeopraphed. Rhode Island Historical Preservation Commission, June 1972, §
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threat of Confederate attack, the school remained at the fort until
temporary quarters could be found in Newport. In the postwar years, the
Army adapted Fort Adams to other than defense uses, erecting guarters znd
warehouses south of theold fort and modifying some of the casemated
artlllery space for additional quarters and shops. Meanwhile, the develop-
ment of more effective weaponry, especlally in Furopean nations, rendered

- most masonry fortifications obsolete.  In 1875 Congress ceased for a time. -
approrriating funds for harbor defense, and Fort Adams and other coastal |
installations bepan to deterlorate. With a sizable groun of Congressmen,
most Army and Navy officers, and much of the public concerned about this
situation, President Grover Cleveland in 1885 appointed a boarcé headed hy
Secretary of War William C. Endicott to review the entire conastal defense
svstem. The Joint military-civilian Endicott Beard made the most compre-
hensive study since the Bernard Board and called for an enormous number
of new works. ‘

< The Endicott report proved controverslal but nevertheless provided
> the basic framework for a new and thoroughly modern generation of sea-

- coast fortificatlons. Emphasis now shifted from fortified structures to
the weapons contained therein., Massive and costly reinforced concrete
structures designed to blend in with the surrounding landscape began to
replace stark, vertical-walled forts. At many seacoast installations, the
new emrlacements were bullt wilthin or 1mposed over existing forts., A&t
Fort Adams, however, the Army erected the new batteries generally along
the bay south of the old fort. These remaln today a striking contrast tc
the masonry post and with it present a significant example of the changing
history and technolory of seacoast fortifications during the -entire 18th
and early 20th centuries.

Although the nature of Narrapgansett Bay defenses chanped near the
.turn of the century, Fort Adams retained 1ts central role in the area.
The post served through World War IT as the command center for an exten-
sive defenslve network that protected both the bay and Long Island Sound.
After the Second VWorld VWar, the Army continued to use the fort in varlous
capacities until 1953, when the Navy took charge of 1t; and durilng
the Elsenhower administration, it functlioned briefly as a summer YWhite
House. In 1964 the State of Rhode Island acquired the area of the main -
work and now is restoring both the fort and its landward defenses.

/,/’\
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DESCRIPTION

CONDITION . CHECK ONE CHECK ONE
__EXCELLENT __DETERIORATED _UNALTERED : X ORIGINAL SITE
X coop _-RUINS L ALTERED _MOVED DATE
—FAIR _UNEXPOSED ’ . '

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND OFNGiNAL {IF KNOWN} PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Fort Adams Historic District includes approximately 80 acres; the
masonry fort from which the district takes 1ts name; the fort's unique
outworks and 2 redoubts; 6 Endicott-period batteries; 10 brick or frame
officers! quarters; and 2 brick warehouses. The maln work sits near
the tip of a northeasterly thumblike protuberance of the southwest end
of Aquidneck or Rhode Island. Narrapgansett Bay's east passage lles west
of the fort, and Brenton Cove lies east. Stretching south from the fort
along the west shore of the peninsula are four Endicott-period, reinforced
concrete batterles. Two others are situated on the opposite shore of
the peninsula. Also extending south, between the main work and its ad-
vanced redoubt, is a row of late 19th-century officers' quarters that
front onto Jackson Road. These dwellings and the land on which they
rest belong to the U.S. Navy, and they house staff officers of the U.S.
Naval War College, Coaster's Harbor Island. All remaining structures
and land within the historic district are the property of the State of
Rhode Island. .

The Masonry Fort. Fort Adams forms an Irregular, hollow pentagon
measuring about 1,000 by 1,200 feet overall. Its northern base 1s the

© shortest of the sides, and from 1t the east and west sides splay out to
the south, where the fourth and fifth sides form a point and are protect-
ed by an elaborate system of outworks, including tenailles, which are
found at no other 19th~century American fort. At the pentagon'’s north-
west, northeast, and southwest angles there are aggressively projecting
bastions that dominate the Narrapganset{ Bay's east passage Newport har-
bor, and Brenton Cove.

The casemated enceinte, or primary enclosure of the fort, forms
around a large parade and features walls of Malne granite and native
shale and vaults of brick. Along the enceinte’'s west front, where a
high concentration of artlllery was required to defend the bay's east
nassage, the structure 1s designed for two tiers of cannon en casemate
and one tiler en barbette. Original plans called for 24 and 32 pound
smoothbores, but heavier. guns were mounted about the mid-19th century.

. Openings for the puns reflect consideratlon of attack. Embrasures in the
granlite~covered walls are formed of brick, & soft materlal that would
not splinter 1like granite when struck with cannon balls.,

Elsewhere, on the east front, vaulted bombproof casemates-~-covered
by earth ramparts and terrepleins and ilncessantly criticized by their '
former occupants for dampness-~form secure quarters for officers. In
the northeast bastlon three large casemates house the three principal
powder magazines, from which smaller magazines in the tenailles and
counterscarp galleries were supplied. Other large casemates (about 18
feet by 52 feet) along the south interior fronts contain space for en-~
listed men's quarters, a hospital, quartermaster stores, a band, and a
chapel. Smaller, more complex casemates in the southeast demlbastion
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contaln space for a bakery, a kitchen, cisterns, and latrines. Along the
north side of the enceinte are more gun emplacements. Atop the west
segment of the southside of the encelnte are a row of one-story, brick
barracks erected in 1908. "Far from distracting from the original archi-~ .
tecture of the.fort, these illustrate its continuing use into the Endicott
period and beyond. In 1947 fire destroyed a similar row atop the east
sepment of the enceinte's south end, and due to cost and. interpretive
considerations, these wlll not be replaced in the restoration process.
Entrance to the fort is by a large, rusticated, sepmentally arched nerth
portal and a smaller east postern.

The Redoubts. Fort Adams has two original redoubts, and the construction
of both 1s patterned after the main work. The smaller redoubt, which
doubled as a Jail, forms a covered, elongated pentagon and stands'just .
east of the east postern. The larger, advanced redoubt is situated on a
rise about 1,700 feet south of the main work. Measuring about -100 feet
by 300 feet, the casemated structture has several levels, 1s surrounded

by 2 dry moat, and 1s designed so that the outer gallery is accessible
only by a single tunnel extending under the moat and a second ditch on
the south slde. Two drawbridges provide north access from the maln work.
Although basically an example of a plain polyponal rather than a bastioned
fortification, this redoubt is still an embodliment of the theories of the
French school. : o .

‘Warehouses (bulldings 7% and 93). These 1 1/2-story, rectangular-shaped
red brick structures with thelr gabled, slate roofs and segmentally arc“ec
side windows and doors were bullt about 1878-79. They stand immediately
east of the maln work facing Brenton Cove and recall the Army's use of

the Installation as a staglng and training center. -

Commanding Officep's Ouarters (Eisenhower Housc; bullding 1). This 1ittle-
‘altered, 2 1/2-story, yellow-painted, frame dwelling with mansard rcof

was erected about 1873-75. It consists of a basically sauare-shaped
central block and a rear wing, -sit%s some 350 fect south of the advanced
redoubt, fronts south onto Lincoln Drive, and recalls the transitional
post-Civil War, rre-Fndicott years of Fort Adams' historv. Sunported by
decorative wood posts, a one-story, balustraded pallerv--the east pnrtion
of which 1s enclosed--flanks the residence on three sides. At least four
corbeled, brick, interilor chimneys rise from the roof, and rabled dormers
mrace its lower slone on all sides., Main entrance 1s through z pedlmented,
sldelirhted, double deor in the center of the three-bay front “a~nle.
Inside, the house features a central hall plan ‘with a parlor and two -it-
ting rooms on the first floor of the main block and at least four bedrooms
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on each of the other two floors. Original trim remains throughout.
The Parks Division of the Rhode Island Department of Natural Pesources
malintains offices in the bullding but has made no structural chanres,

Officers' Quarters (buildings 2, 2R, 2C, 3-4, 5-6, 7-8, 9-10, 13-1k, ard
17). Standinp along Jackson Road between the advanced redoubt and fthe
main work is a row of east-facing officers?! quarters erected in the late
19th century. They recall post history both during the post-Civil War
translitional era and the Endicott perlod. With the exception of building

17-~which is a 2 1/2-story, rectanpular-shaped, gable~-roofed, red brick
ediflice with a two-tlered front pallery flanked hy twe-story herxagonal
bays-~the quarters are of frame construction. Multicolored, they vary
in confipuration and desipn from one and one-half to two and one-hzalf
stories and from mansard to gable and cross-pgable roofs, All appear to
have undergone only minimal exterior alteration and to be in gocd con-
dition. . -

Fndlicott Patteries (Bankhead Talbot, Rellly, Relton, Fdwerton, and
Gireene}. Constructed of reinfnrccu concrete in the 1900' s, these massive
structures housed the weapons of the Endicott preriod. Althourh nons re- .
tains its puns, all are in fair to pood condition and well 1llustrate the
rurpose for which they were designed, Batteriec Bankhead, Talbot, Peilly,
and Belton rest in a line extending south from the main work and alnng
the west shore. Batterles Edgerton and Greene stand near the east shore
and the advanced redoubt. A palr of mortar batterles, they are unusual
for while a mortar emplacement usually held only four weapons, six%onn
were mounted here.

Poundary Justification. Included within the boundary described below
are arproximately 80 acres; the masonry fort designed hy . Bernard and
modified by Totten; 1ts unlque outworks and 2 redoubts; 2 brick ware-
houses from the post's transitional 1870's era; 10 frame or hrick offi-
cers' quarters from the same perlod and the Endicott period; & Fndicott-~
rerlod batteries; and the post cemetery. This entlire area and 2ll these
structures are essential to the interpretation of both the installatlon's
early military architecture and the evolution of U.S. coastal defense.
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Reundary Description. As indicated in red on the accompanying maps T(1)
T.8.57.5. 7.5" Series, Rhode Island; Newport Quad., 1957, photorevized
1070; and (2) HABS, Fort Adams, Survey RI-347, Sheet 1 of 3 of 507, a

line beginning at the intersectlion of Tincoln Drive and the mailn driveway
approaching the Elsenhower House (building 1) and running westward appreoy-

imately 280 feet along the north curt of Tincoln to. the intersection of
Tinceln and Buchanan Road; thence, northward approximately 1,000 feet
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along, the east curb of Buchanan to the north curb of Pierce Road; thence,
eastward about 150 feet along the north curb of Plerce to fthe east curb

of Polk Road; thence, north about 1,400 feet along the east curb of Polk
to a point.gboutizs feet distant from the outworks of Fort Adams; thence,
westward about 200 feet along a line on a plane 125 feet south of the
outworks of Fort Adams to an unnamed access road rear, or east, of Rattery
Rankhead, thence, southward about 2,700 feet alonp the west side of an
unnamed meandering road that passes immediately to the east of Batteries

. Bankhead, Talbot, and Rellly and immediately west of building 202, and

east of bhe post cemetery to the north curd of Linecoln Drive; thence,
vestwvard about U425 feet along the north curb of Lincoln to the west shor

of Aquidneck or Rhode Island; thence, northward about 4,800 feet alonz
the wateor's edpe (at low tide) to the tip of the peninsula on which Fert
Adams sits; thencé, southward about 1,600 feet ‘along the edge of the
wvater (at low tide) on the east shore of sald peninsula to the north side
of a fishing piler opposite the scutheast corner of the fort; thence,
westward about 1,100 feet along a line on a plane 125 feet south of the
outworks of Fort Adams to a polnt opposite the north-south axis of Jack-
son Road; thence, southward about 1,330 feet along the west curb of
Jackson to the south curb of Pierce; thence, southeastward about inC.

feet along the northwest side of the main redoubt to the north edre ~f
Batteries Edgerton and Greene; thence, eastward, southward, and wectward
about 1,000 feet alonp the north, east and south edpes of the batteries
to a point on a plane with the rear, or west, side of bullding 902; thence,
south along sald nlane about 700 feet to Lincoln, thence, west alowr the
north curbd of Lincoln to the polnt of beginning.
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Battery Bankhead, Fort Adams
Newport, Rhode Island

April 1975 Photo: AASLH

Batteries, Fort Adams -
Newport, Rhode Island

April 1975 Photo: AASLH
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Main Work, Fort Adams T

) Newport, Rhode Island April 1975

Main Work, Fort Adams )
Newport, Rhode Island, Aprll, 1975
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